



SUPPORTING MĀORI APPRENTICESHIP SUCCESS

THROUGH MENTORING AND BUILDING EMPLOYER CAPABILITY













Ako Whakaruruhau - Supporting Māori apprenticeship success through mentoring and building employer capability

Author

Catherine Savage

Project team

Dr Catherine Savage, Ihi Research Nancy McConnell, Hawkins Construction Laura Clifford, Hawkins Construction Kym Hamilton, Te Tapuae o Rehua Dr Eruera Tarena, Te Tapuae o Rehua Hemi Inia, Te Tapaue o Rehua Mathias Pitama, Te Tapaue o Rehua

This project was supported through the Ako Aotearoa National Project Fund. This report and a toolkit of resources can be downloaded at www.akoaotearoa.ac.nz/maori-trade-training. The report is also available in print at www.akoaotearoa.ac.nz/shop.

Publishers

Ako Aotearoa – The National Centre for Tertiary Teaching Excellence PO Box 756 Wellington 6140

www.akoaotearoa.ac.nz

Published

December 2016

ISBN 978-0-947516-65-9 (print) ISBN 978-0-947516-66-6 (online)







This work is published under the Creative Commons 3.0 New Zealand Attribution Non-commercial Share Alike Licence (BY-NC-SA). Under this licence you are free to copy, distribute, display and perform the work as well as to remix, tweak, and build upon this work non-commercially, as long as you credit the author/s and license your new creations under the identical terms.

Contents

Setting the scene	1
Providing opportunities to learn in the workplace	3
What we found – Mentoring and Māori apprentices	4
Key findings	5
Sub-contractor variability adds complexity to the implementation of support initiatives	s. 5
Raising awareness in the sector brought about a demand for new learning.	5
Stereotyping and deficit attitudes about Māori were evident and embedded.	5
High staff turnover and change impacts on relationships – the provision for the mentor needs to be ongoing but not always on-site.	5
The ability to recognise and respond to cultural difference needs to be a part of the culture of the organisation.	5
Where possible, placing Māori apprentices to work together is best.	6
Providing apprentices with leadership opportunities positively impacts their performance.	6
Lessons learned for workplace learning	7
Recommendations for companies supporting apprentices	8
Your company's leadership must be strong and committed to supporting and enhancin diversity and organisational change.	ng 8
The culture of your organisation needs to be open to supporting change.	8
Connections with iwi and mana whenua will strengthen your initiatives with your Māori apprentices.	8
Your businesses need to be prepared to address deficit attitudes.	8
Creating a project culture can support positive learning practices and workplace relationships.	8
Supportive mentoring relationships work.	8
Conclusion	9
References	10



SETTING THE SCENE

n 2010, Māori trade training was re-established in Christchurch by means of a partnership between Hawkins Construction Ltd (Hawkins), Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu (Ngāi Tahu) and Ara Institute of Canterbury (Ara). He Toki ki te Rika, the pre-trade Māori trade training initiative, led to over 900 pre-trade completions in the first five years (Tarena, 2014). Following the success of the initiative, the need for ongoing apprenticeship support was evident. Data indicated that completing apprenticeships is challenging for many apprentices in New Zealand, particularly Māori and Pasifika learners (Tertiary Education Commission, 2010). As the project team involved in the partnership, we were faced with a puzzle of practice. While we were successfully training pre-trade graduates through the He Toki ki te Rika Māori trades programme, they were not progressing into apprenticeship and continuing through to completion as we had hoped. As a result, we developed a focused strategy team, Ako Whakaruruhau, to increase the rate of Māori apprenticeship success.

Our project team referred to the model of successful Māori learners in workplace settings developed by Kerehoma et al. (2013), which identified the key characteristics present when Māori learners are successful. The elements include:

- Personal commitment, attitude and motivation of the learner
- 2. Tuākana Tēina (peer mentoring, peer learning and role models)
- 3. Connectedness (to the employer, colleagues and ITO)
- 4. Whānau support and encouragement
- Strong foundations for workplace learning (literacy, numeracy and financial management)

The model developed by Kerehoma et al. situates the learner within their workplace, their whānau and a wider trades network. The focus of Ako Whakaruruhau was to look closely at the employer and the apprentice's colleagues in order to develop and improve the conditions for learning in the workplace. Explanations for underachievement in apprenticeships are varied but tend to focus on the individual's prior skills and personal qualities. In education, deficit thinking is the practice of holding lower expectations for students who are marginalised and do not fit the dominant culture of the learning environment. Deficit thinking equates to lower expectations, poorer academic achievement of students and the perspective that the learner is to blame for their failure (Valencia, 1997). Often interventions to lift learner achievement are designed to help them fit the context of the workplace or school. However, the literature suggests that trying to 'fix' learners only further alienates them from the setting by perpetuating deficit attitudes and practices toward students who are marginalised (Bishop et al., 2009). We hypothesised that deficit thinking within the workplace may be contributing to the underachievement of Māori apprentices in the workforce.

The project was designed as an action research project, which moved through cycles of inquiry driven by double loop learning (Argyris, 1977). The 'double-loop' in double loop learning consists of questioning the basic strategy and foundation on which you are working. For the project team, this meant looking at the assumptions we had, to make sure that we were improving organisational efficacy, and making an impact for our Māori learners in work-based learning.

The project partners agreed that the focus would be on organisational cultural change rather than changing the apprentice and this remained the focus throughout the

Double-loop learning ASSUME PLAN CHECK CHECK Source: Argyris (1977)

project. We knew that the trainees had been successful in their pre-trade training and had the qualities and abilities to achieve their apprenticeship. All the students had passed the literacy and numeracy requirements for the course. The focus for the project team was the environment in which the students were learning and ensuring that it would be conducive to success. The focus of the project was therefore less on the individual and more about the context in which that individual was learning.

Our process involved meeting as a project team at least monthly for planning, implementing, gathering feedback, and analysing the data. We would meet to discuss what we had found that either affirmed what we had done and helped us to forward plan, or required us to revisit our assumptions about what we were doing and change our strategy. For example, after analysing the data from our industry breakfasts and marae learning experiences, we decided to provide site specific cultural knowledge as a practice rather than general information about Māori culture. This brought about the development of site-based toolbox cards.



PROVIDING OPPORTUNITIES TO LEARN IN THE WORKPLACE

onstruction sites are difficult places to bring about formal learning. The pressure to complete tasks to a project plan, the cost of the build and other things that were outside of our control, impacted on the amount of time that we could take to support new learning. The project team worked on the understanding that we would provide 'opportunities to learn' in a flexible way and focus on the things that were in our circle of influence such as:

- 1. Developing the mentoring practices
- Improving relationships between apprentices and mentors
- 3. Supporting organisational culture change
- **4.** Creating a workplace environment that would support learning

We developed ways of gaining feedback from each intervention or idea including surveys, emails and interviews. This data led to the revision of our ideas and development of subsequent opportunities.

We began the project by running **introductory sessions** at Te Whatu Manawa Māoritanga o Rēhua Marae (Rēhua) as we had seen through the pre-trade programme that developing a strong relationship between the construction company and iwi was pivotal to bringing about change. The marae experience sessions received very positive feedback in terms of raising awareness and beginning to shift deficit views of Māori and iwi. These sessions began with Hawkins and were then extended to lead contractors and subcontractors. It was the first time many of the participants had been on a marae and was a very significant occasion.

The objective of the visits was to provide exposure to Māori culture, an introduction to Ngāi Tahu and a celebration of partnership. These sessions demonstrated to staff that the company valued their relationships with iwi. Feedback gathered indicated that the participants wanted more information about supporting Māori apprentices.

This led to several specific **learning opportunities** provided by experts both face to face and online that focused on recognising and working with cultural difference, supporting learning in the workplace, communication and working with young people. These sessions were mainly attended by site managers and supervisors. The feedback questioned how we would reach subcontractors.

In order to reach subcontractors and site workers we ran a series of **industry breakfasts**. These were brief interventions, lasting about an hour and a half, that brought subcontractors together to learn about Māori trade training and supporting apprenticeship success.

These were held at local conference venues and Rēhua Marae. The feedback we collected at these events indicated that resources were needed to support our mentors in the workplace.

As a result, we focused on **understanding and developing the role of the mentor** in the workplace. We created mentor training sessions and produced a mentor **handbook** and **workbook**¹ that could be used on-site to support apprentices. These workbooks were distributed to lead contractors across New Zealand and were very well received by mentors.

In order to support continued change on-site, the project team decided to develop a set of resources that would support the development of a positive learning environment for Māori apprentices. We looked at integrating knowledge of mentoring and learning, as well as raising awareness about the importance of cultural knowledge on-site, particularly place based knowledge or situated learning. As a result, we produced a set of **tool box talk cards** and **posters**².

As a result of working in the sector, the project team believes that the 'site culture' can have a significant impact on learning and apprenticeship support. We focused on a substantial construction project in Christchurch that was built on a site of cultural significance, the Christchurch Town Hall. Developed with mana whenua cultural expertise, the **tool box talk cards** presented a cultural view of the site including care for the land and waterways. These cards were launched on-site and were used regularly in toolbox talks throughout the construction period.

The project team ran all events in a Māori way, incorporating mihi whakatau, karakia, kai, and poroporoaki. This was important as it contributed to normalising Māori ways of working and running events and meetings.



https://akoaotearoa.ac.nz/maori-trade-training

²The tool box cards and posters can be downloaded at https://akoaotearoa.ac.nz/maori-trade-training



WHAT WE FOUND - MENTORING AND MĀORI APPRENTICES

e became very aware, after our initial interviews with mentors, that we needed to support them to change their trainee and apprentice support practices. Mentors talked about being quite punitive with their apprentices and saw their role as keeping them in line; some even talked about making it as difficult for the apprentices as it was for them. There was a pervading attitude that if apprentices failed it was because of their own weaknesses and the organisation was not responsible. Changing this attitude and ensuring the organisation understood they had agency (the ability to make a difference) and took responsibility for apprenticeship success has been a focus of the learning sessions. Our objective was to change the existing culture of mentoring to a culture of support for apprentices, particularly for Māori.

The gap between Māori and non-Māori apprenticeship completion is quite significant in New Zealand. One contributing factor is the cultural dissonance between non-Māori employers and their Māori apprentices. The project team hypothesised that if organisations were more aware of Māori culture then the level of dissonance between the employer and the apprentice would decrease and that this would support apprenticeship success.

As the project developed we found that the organisation did shift significantly and that interventions were created independently by people within the organisation to support Māori apprenticeship success. This included gaining regular feedback from apprentices about their worksite, developing mentoring structures within the business, creating online information sessions and leadership sessions, and creating an environment focused on learning.

KEY FINDINGS

This section focuses on the project team's important learnings from the project.

Sub-contractor variability adds complexity to the implementation of support initiatives.

As Hawkins is a project delivery company/lead contractor, most of the construction work that they are contracted to do is undertaken by a variety of subcontractors. These subcontractors vary greatly in capacity, and in their ability to take on and support trainees and apprentices. While the project team was able to influence the practices of the company, it was more challenging to reach all the subcontractors. In response to this, we looked at how we could influence the messages the lead contractor gave to the subcontractors about the 'way of working' on the site. As a result, we focused on developing site culture and produced a set of toolbox resources that was aimed at reaching subcontractors.

Raising awareness in the sector brought about a demand for new learning.

It was evident to the project team that most companies and organisations were keen to be involved and had not seen anything like this project in the sector before. There was clearly a need within the sector to understand more about supporting apprentices to succeed and how the



organisation, the worksite and the mentor could play a part in this success. A decade ago the sector faced a similar challenge - to change the 'culture of safety' in order to improve safety practices for employees. Similarly, the 'culture of learning' within the sector requires intervention and support to bring about change.

Stereotyping and deficit attitudes about Māori were evident and embedded.

The project team was aware that stereotyping and deficit attitudes toward Māori apprentices impacted upon their success, but we were unaware of the extent to which these attitudes were embedded in organisations. These attitudes have been one of the biggest barriers for the project team to address. The feedback we gathered during the project indicated that many participants were unaware of how embedded their views were. By raising awareness, key leadership staff and support personnel were able to reflect on their assumptions regarding Māori and work positively to support Māori success.

High staff turnover and change impacts on relationships – the provision for the mentor needs to be ongoing but not always on-site.

Within the construction sector, staff turnover and change is a part of the nature of the work. This may not mean that people move, but rather that projects are constantly changing and therefore where staff work and who has contact with the apprentices can change regularly. Establishing connections and ensuring that apprentices have a person that they can maintain regular contact with is important. Throughout the project, we worked on understanding the role of the mentor within the construction sector and we determined that this person does not necessarily have to be on-site daily (as this is often not achievable) but needs to be someone that the apprentice can develop a trusting relationship with and have frequent contact.

The ability to recognise and respond to cultural difference needs to be a part of the culture of the organisation.

Every organisation, no matter how big or small, has a culture that can be described as 'the way things are done around here'. This is often taken for granted and is therefore not obvious to the individuals in the organisation as it is the normal way of doing things. In Christchurch, the organisations were heavily influenced by western cultural

norms that impacted on the way they operated. It was clear from the outset that the culture of the organisation and the culture of the apprentices was incongruent. This did not mean that the culture of the organisation had to become Māori but rather that recognising and responding to cultural differences would need to be part of the organisational culture.

Where possible, placing Māori apprentices to work together is best.

Hawkins' staff involved in the project noted that when Māori apprentices were put together on a project they appeared to be happier, have less difficulties and be more successful. Over the length of the project, the apprentice coordinator focused on clustering Māori apprentices and this had a significant impact on their success. The apprentices were a strong, encouraging source of support for one another. In some cases, apprentices naturally took on a tuākana role and supported the less experienced apprentices. They reported that these relationships helped them to succeed.

Providing apprentices with leadership opportunities positively impacts their performance.

Over the length of the project we have seen apprentices develop their own skills. In particular, our first apprentices are now leaders in their respective organisations. One apprentice completed his apprenticeship during the project and several were on track to successfully complete their apprenticeships in the near future. These apprentices have provided ongoing feedback to the project team and their organisation, and have supported the younger, less experienced apprentices. This has had a positive impact on their own performance and identity.



LESSONS LEARNED FOR WORKPLACE LEARNING

ike schools and tertiary institutions, worksites are places of learning for apprentices. In the past, educational institutions have attributed student failure to deficit explanations (including their culture, home background, and perceived intelligence) rather than examining their practices to support student success. When we began this project, we could see this perspective pervaded the construction sector and the worksite as a place of learning. The project team wanted to shift this view and ensure that the workplace would support apprenticeship success. In particular, we hoped we would enable site supervisors and mentors to look at what they could do to support apprenticeship success, for example, giving good instructions, and providing positive and focused feedback to support apprentices' learning.

The impact of the workplace on learning was the focus of a recent Australian study, which identified employment related issues as the most commonly cited reasons for not completing an apprenticeship (Bednarz, 2014). These reasons included experiencing interpersonal difficulties with employers or colleagues, being made redundant, not liking the work, and changing career. By contrast, issues with off-the-job training were the least frequently cited reasons for not completing an apprenticeship. This indicated that apprentices could manage the training requirements off-site but found on-site learning difficult (Bednarz, 2014). The study found that the influence of the employer in apprenticeship success should not be minimised. Given that Māori and Pasifika apprentices are most often employed in workplaces where they are in the

minority, these challenges may be compounded through cultural dissonance and thus contribute to failure. We have to improve the conditions for learning on our worksites.

The actions that create helpful conditions for learning are also positive for construction practice in general. The increase in communication skills and the use of tacit knowledge on construction sites has been found to increase productivity (Nesan, 2012). Tacit knowledge is the everyday situated knowledge that workers apply in the workplace. Mentoring is the interaction that supports learning on a daily basis, the 'know how' that is not taught but acquired through experience and application of knowledge in a variety of situations. Research demonstrates that this tacit knowledge is particularly crucial in the construction sector (Nesan, 2012).

Tacit knowledge is hard to formalise in an educational context, making it difficult to communicate or teach. There are critical construction employee qualities that influence tacit knowledge sharing such as trust, creativity, motivation, ability and openness to learning. Mentors in the project were made aware of the importance of tacit knowledge, of knowledge sharing on-site and the skills that need to be developed to ensure the transmission of tacit knowledge. Essentially, mentoring needs to be relational, collaborative, strong on communication skills and transparent about the importance of tacit knowledge in the apprentice's learning, as they apply their taught knowledge on different worksites.



RECOMMENDATIONS FOR COMPANIES SUPPORTING APPRENTICES

his project was built on the foundation of the work of Kerehoma et al. (2013), which identified the key characteristics present when Māori learners are successful in work-based learning. This project focused on developing and creating an environment to support apprenticeship success. We have identified six elements that supported success for apprentices within the project.

Your company's leadership must be strong and committed to supporting and enhancing diversity and organisational change.

The project was supported by the leadership within Hawkins. They valued the project, provided time for mentors to attend professional learning sessions and encouraged feedback and new ideas. The leadership within the company incorporated the language of diversity and learning into their communications and demonstrated that they were committed to raising Māori apprenticeship achievement. Within the organisation, agents of change in leadership positions ensured that the key messages of the project were communicated consistently and that they were valued.

The culture of your organisation needs to be open to supporting change.

A key enabler of change was the openness of the organisation to changing their culture to support Māori apprentices. While not all the employees recognised the need for change, particularly at the beginning, the project team had enough momentum to bring about change and begin shifting the culture. While there were staff who continued to hold deficit views at project completion, the critical staff, who supported, mentored and supervised apprentices, were committed to supporting change. Organisations are ever changing and an openness to questioning current assumed ways of operating is critical to continuing to improve effectiveness.

Connections with iwi and mana whenua will strengthen your initiatives with your Māori apprentices.

This project has been supported by Ngāi Tahu and this has meant that the relationship between Hawkins and

Ngāi Tahu has continued to develop over the length of the project. Having support from iwi has meant the project team has been able to run events with iwi involvement, ensuring they had cultural integrity. Iwi and mana whenua expertise was accessed to support the development of resources and print media.

Your businesses need to be prepared to address deficit attitudes.

Deficit attitudes toward marginalised people including Māori are embedded in our society and workplaces. They can have a significant impact on the learning and achievement of apprentices in the workplace. Organisations need to be prepared to have challenging and difficult conversations with staff and expose them to alternative ways of viewing the world. Embracing diversity in the workplace is becoming increasingly important as society and workplace cultures become more diverse.

Creating a project culture can support positive learning practices and workplace relationships.

Developing the 'culture' of a project contributes to supporting a learning culture on-site. Large construction worksites are made up of many subcontractors and can be highly variable in terms of project culture. Developing a positive culture on-site about 'how we do things around here' can support positive learning practices and workplace relationships.

Supportive mentoring relationships work.

Workplace mentors are crucial to supporting apprentices through their apprenticeship. Providing training focused on providing feedback, supporting learning and developing positive learning relationships improves the quality of mentoring. Organisational structures should be developed to support time for mentoring and opportunities for apprentices and mentors to meet.



CONCLUSION

Over the length of the project we have seen a significant development in the willingness of staff to take responsibility for apprenticeship success in whatever role they are in. We have seen an increase in Māori apprentices' success when the support initiatives identified in this project are evident in the workplace. The resources produced to support the continued development of work-based learning support are being used on-site and in organisations involved. These resources are available for download at: www.akoaotearoa.ac.nz/maori-trade-training.



REFERENCES

Argyris, C. (1977). Double Loop Learning in Organisations. Harvard Business Review. Sept-Oct. 1977 p. 115-125.

Bednarz, A. (2014). Understanding the non-completion of apprentices. NCVER, Adelaide.

Bishop, R., Berryman, M., Cavanagh, T., & Teddy, L. (2009). Te Kotahitanga: Addressing educational disparities facing Māori students in New Zealand. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25(5), 734-742. Retrieved from http://www.elsevier.com/

Kerehoma, C., Connor, J., Garrow, L., and Young, C. (2013). *A model for successful Māori learners in workplace settings*. Retrieved from https://akoaotearoa.ac.nz/projects/successful-Māori-in-workplace-settings

Nesan, L.J. (2012). Factors Influencing Tacit Knowledge in Construction. *The Australian Journal of Construction Economics and Building*. 5 (1) p. 48-58.

Tarena, E. (2014). He Toki Ki Te Rika – Collaboration for Māori Workforce Development. *He Kupu Whakataki Journal of Best Practice in Applied and Māori/Indigenous Vocational Education*. Waiāriki Institute of Technology. Third Edition p. 93-103.

Tertiary Education Commission (2010). Tertiary Education Performance Report. Retrieved from https://www.tec.govt.nz/Documents/Publications/Tertiary-Education-Performance-Report-2010.pdf

Valencia, R.R. (1997). The Evolution of Deficit Thinking: Educational Thought and Practice. The Stanford Series of Education and Public Policy. London. Falmer Press.



